
IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:

WOODBRIDGE GROUP OF COMPANIES, LLC,
et al.,'

Remaining Debtors.

I;~I~HAEL U-~LLBER~, in his ~a~acity as
Liquidating Trustee of the WpODBRIDGE
LIQUIDATION .TRUST,

Plaintiff,

Chapter 11

(Jointly Administered)

Case No. 17-12560 (~3LS)

Adversary Proceeding
Case No. 19- (BLS)

vs.

ALBERT D. KLAGER and
ATLANTIC INSURANCE &FINANCIAL
SERVICES INC.,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR SALE OF UNREGISTERED
SECURITIES, FOR FT~AUDs AND FOR AIDING AND ABETTING FRAUD

The Remaining Debtors and the last four digits of their respective federal tax identification numbers are as

follows: Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC (3603) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC

(0172).
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The Woodbridge Liquidation Trust (the "Liquidation Trust" or "Plaintiff'), formed

pursuant to the First Amended Joint ChapteN 11 Plan of Liquidation of WoodbNidge Group of

Cofnpanzes, LLC and Its Affiliated Debtors dated August 22, 2018 (Bankr. Docket No. 2397) (as

it may be amended, modified, supplemented, or restated from time to time, the "Flan"2), as and

for its C~mplaznt for S~rle of Unregistered Securities, for Fraud, and foN Aiding and Abetting

Fraud (this "Complaint") against Albert D. Klager ("Klager") and Atlantic Insurance &

ir~arcial T~~ ~"Atl +• " ~, +~g +h *~, rrl g , *re "T'efQrd ~*c"), allPgec as~c~'ViCc5 iu~., aI1~IC aT'i w i.~ vi VJI~ii is 2 ~P ~ i L ~.i~ c1i w v u

~O~IoWS:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Beginning no later than July 2012 through December 1, 2017, Woodbridge Group

of Companies, LLC and its 305 debtor affiliates (collectively, the "Debtors") were operated by

their founder and principal, Robert Shapiro ("Shapiro"), as a Ponzi scheme. As part of this

fraud, Shapiro and his lieutenants utilized the Debtors to raise over one billion dollars from

approximately 10,000 investors nationwide as either Noteholders or Unitholders (collectively,

"Investors").

2. Those Investors, many of ~~vhom were elderly, often placed a substantial

percentage of their net worth. (including savings and retirement accounts) with the Debtors and

now stand to lose a significant portion of their investments and to be delayed in the return of the

remaining portion. The quality of the Investors' lives will likely be substantially and adversely

affected by the fraud perpetrated by Shapiro and his lieutenants.

2 Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
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3. The purpose of this lawsuit is to hold Defendants liable for the sale of

unregistered securities, for fraud, and for aiding and abetting fraud and to recover damages in

connection with such wrongful conduct.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. The Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 157(a) and 1334.

The Counts of this adversary proceeding are non-core within the meaning of 28 U.S.C.

i~~~~~l~jl~~, l~r'j, ~~j, nilCi ~iij. D~aiT'itlif i~vilSeritS t~ eiiiPj~ vi ~Ti2i GiueiS vP~uCi~TiTx~.iii ~j~ ~iii3

Court on all counts.

5. Venue of this adversary proceeding is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ § 1408 and 1409.

THE PARTIES

The Liquidation Trust

6. On December 4, 2017 (the "Initial Petition Date"), certain of the Debtors

commenced voluntary cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. Other of the Debtors

followed with their own voluntary cases (collectively with those of the original Debtors, the

"Bankruptcy Cases") within the following four months (each such date, including the Initial

Petition Date, a "Petition Date")

7. On October 26, 2018, this Court entered an order confirming the Plan (Bankr.

Docket No. 2903).

8. The Plan provides for, inter alia, the establishment of the Liquidation Trust on the

Effective Date of the Plan for the benefit of the Liquidation Trust Beneficiaries. in accordance

with the terms of the Plan and the Liquidation Trust Agreement. See Plan §§ 1.75, 5.4.

9. The Effective Date of the Plan occurred on February 15, 2019.

2
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10. On February 25, 2019, the Court entered an order closing the Bankruptcy Cases

of all Debtors except Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC and Woodbridge Mortgage

Investment Fund 1, LLC (together, the "Remaining Debtors"). The Remaining Debtors'

Bankruptcy Cases are jointly administered under Case No. 17-12560 (BLS).

1 1. On the Effective Date, the Liquidation Trust was automatically vested with all of

the Debtors' and the .Estates' respective rights, title, and. interest in and to all Liquidation Trust

hss~ts. See ~'lar~ ~ 5.~.~. Furthzr, the Li~uidati~r~ ~ rust, as suc~~sscr ire interest tc the Lebt:,rs,

has the right and power to file and pursue any and all "Liquidation Trust Actions" without any

further order of the Bankruptcy Caurt. Id. § 5.4.15. "Liquidation Trust Actions" include, inter

alia, "all Avoidance Actions and Causes of Action held by the Debtors or the Estates ...." Id.

§ 1.76.

12. In addition to its status as successor in interest to the Debtors and their estates, the

Liquidation Trust also holds claims held by Investors who elected to contribute to the

Liquidation Trust certain causes of action that those Investors possess against individuals such as

Defendants (the "Contributed Claims"). Id. § 1.28 (defining "Contributed Claims" to include

"All Causes of Action that a Noteholder or Unitholder has against any Person that is not a

Released Party and that are related in any way to the Debtors, their predecessors, their respective

affiliates, or any Excluded Parties, including ... all Causes of Action based on, arising out of, or

related to the marketing, sale, and issuance of any Notes or Units; ... all Causes of Action based

on, arising out of, or related to the misrepresentation of any of the Debtors' financial

information, business operations, or related internal controls; and ... all Causes of Action based

on, arising out of, or related to any failure to disclose, or actual or attempted cover up or
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obfuscation of, any of the conduct described in the Disclosure Statement, including in respect of

any alleged fraud related thereto")

Defendants

13. Defendant Klager is an individual residing in the state of Florida.. At all times

relevant hereto, Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendant Atlantic

is a Florida corporation owned, managed, dominated, and controlled by Defendant Klager.

TiJj'3t7ii ii2~t)i'1ilatiGi"i ailu UG1IGl~ LGL~iitiaT'i~iS aCi~u aS iiT'iaTiCiai aC~ViSviS 2iiC2~~i vTOi:~iS ~i~i2i SC~u

securities to the public and provided investment services.

14. Defendants sold Notes and Units to unsuspecting Investors and created marketing

materials and sales scripts to facilitate the sale of Notes and Units to unsuspecting Investors

(often targeting unsophisticated, elderly investors with Individual Retirement Accounts). In so

doing, Defendants made materially false and fraudulent statements to induce Investors to provide

money. In connection with such conduct, Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert

with others, made use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means or

instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, and of the mails.

FACTUAL BAC~GI~QUND

The Frac~id

15. At least since July 2012 until shortly before they sought bankruptcy protection,

the Debtors were operated as a Ponzi scheme. As this Court explained in its order confirming

the Plan:

The evidence demonstrates, and the Bankruptcy Court hereby finds, that
(i) beginning no later than July 2012 through December 1, 2017, Robert H.
Shapiro used his web of more than 275 limited liability companies,
including the Debtors, to conduct a massive Ponzi scheme raising more
than $1.22 billion from over 8,400 unsuspecting investors nationwide;
(ii) the Ponzi scheme involved the payment of purported returns to

4
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existing investors from funds contributed by new investors; and (iii) the
Fonzi scheme was discovered no later than December 2017.

16. The securities sold by Defendants (z.e.,the Debtors' Notes and Units) were not

registered with the. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") or applicable state

securities agencies and there was na applicable exemption from registration. Nor were

Defendants registered as broker-dealers with the SEC or applicable state agencies.

17. Investors were often told that they were investing money to be loaned with

respect to particular properties awned by third parties, that those properties were worth

substantially more than the loans against the properties, and that they'would have the benefit of a

stream of payments from these third parties for high-interest loans, protected by security interests

and/or mortgages against such properties. Shapiro and his lieutenants represented to Investors

that the Debtors' profits would be generated by the difference between the interest rate the

Debtors charged its third-patty borrowers and the interest rate it paid Investors.

18. In reality, these statements were lies. Investors' money was almost never used to

make high-interest loans to unrelated, third-party borrowers, and there was no stream of

payments; instead, Investors' money was commingled and used for an assortment of items,

including maintaining a lavish lifestyle for Shapiro and his family, brokers' commissions,

overhead (largely for selling even more Notes and Units to Investors), and .payment of principal

and interest to existing Investors. The money that was used to acquire properties (almost always

owned by a disguised affiliate) cannot he traced to any specific Investor. These are typical

characteristics of Ponzi schemes.

19. Because the Debtors operated as a Ponzi scheme, obtaining new money from

Investors into the Ponzi scheme conferred no net benefit on the Debtors; on the contrary, each

new investment was a net negative. Money was siphoned off to pay the expenses described
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above, so that the Debtors actually received only a fraction of the investment dollars. New

money also perpetuated the Ponzi scheme, as such money enabled the Debtors to return fictitious

"profits" to early Investors — an essential component of the scheme, because "repaying" early

Investors led to new investments, without which the house of cards wpuld fall, as it eventually

did. At the same time, each investment created an obligation to return to the defrauded Investor

100% of the investment, such that each new investment increased the Debtors' liabilities and

LI~iIYilai~l~ 1Cft ii3~li3 ui3a~u1E iG SaiiS~y iii~ii ~~~;T'~~a~2 IlariiiitiES.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Sale of Unregistered Securities (Securities Act Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 12(a))

20. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein Paragraphs 1 through 19, as if fully set

forth herein.

21. The Notes and Units sold by Defendants were securities within the meaning of the

Securities Act.

22. No registration statement was filed or in effect with the SEC pursuant to the

Securities Act with respect to the securities issued by the Debtors as described in this Complaint

and no exemption from registration existed with respect to these securities.

23. From in or about July 2012 through at least December 4, 2017, Defendants

directly and indirectly:

a. made use ~f any means or instruments of transportation or communication

in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities, through the use or
medium of a prospectus. or otherwise;

b. carried or caused to be carried securities through the mails or in interstate

commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, for the purpose
of sale or delivery after sale; and/or

c. made use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy
through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any security,

6
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without a registration statement having been filed or being in effect with the SEC as to such

securities.

24. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants violated Sections 5(a) and S(c) of the

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c).

25. The Investors who contributed their claims to the Liquidation Trust purchased the

unregistered securities issued by the Debtors and as a direct and proximate result sustained

Si~iii~ICaiit Ciai2lagCS. r~iCCvT~ITIsi~'~ ~i.~`i~. i,1~u1~2~1~i~ ri PLiSt 125 ~~2~11C~i21g '~IT1C~~~ .C,~~t2CT1 , 
~~~~`1 ~ .~~f

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77l(a)(1), to bring a cause of action seeking damages based on

Defendants' violations of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act.

26. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to judgment holding Defendants

jointly and severally liable for the sale of unregistered securities, as set forth in Exhibit A, or in

an amount to be proven at trial.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FY~aud

27. Plaintiff reall~~es and incorporates herein Paragraphs 1 thrpugh 26, as if fully set

forth herein.

28. Defendants misrepresented the facts to Investors, including by making affirmative

misrepresentations and by concealing. and failing to disclose the true facts. Among the

misrepresentations were that Investors were often told that they were investing money to be

loaned with respect to particular properties owned by third parties, that those properties were

worth substantially more than the loans against the properties, and that they would have the

benefit of a stream of payments from these third parties for high-interest loans, protected by

security interests and/or mortgages against such properties.

7
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29. In reality, these statements were lies. Investors' mpney was almost never used to

make high-interest loans to unrelated, third-party borrowers, and there was no stream of

payments; instead, Investors' money was commingled and used for an assortment of expenses,

including maintaining a lavish lifestyle for Shapiro and his family, brokers' commissions,

overhead (largely for selling even more Notes and Units to Investors), and payment of principal

and interest to existing investors. The money that was used to acquire properties (almost always

OWIItC~i'U~ a c~IS~UiSGC~ affliia~E~ ~aiilivi vE iTaC2t~ iv a22~ S~3~C1iiC ~T1~'~StOi.

30. Defendants made these misrepresentations knowingly, with scienter, and with

intent to defraud Investors.

31. The Investors who contributed their claims to the Liquidation Trust justifiably

relied on Defendants' misrepresentations of facts, and as a direct and proximate result sustained

hundreds of millions of dollars in damages.

32. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled t~ judgment holding Defendants

jointly and severally liable for fraud, as set forth in Exhibit A, or in an amount to be proven at

trial.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Aiding and Abetting Fraud

33. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates herein Paragraphs 1 through 32, as if fully set

forth herein.

34. Shapiro — an architect of the fraud —also misrepresented the facts to Investors,

and did so knowingly, with scienter, and with intent to defraud Investors. The Investors who

contributed their claims to the Liquidation Trust justifiably relied on Shapiro's

8
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misrepresentations of facts, and as a direct and proximate result sustained hundreds of millions

of dollars in damages.

35. Defendants knowingly and substantially assisted Shapiro in defrauding Investors.

36. Defendants were aware of Shapirn's fraud and acted knowingly in providing

substantial and material. assistance to Shapiro.

37. Defendants substantially benefited by receiving income, commissions, and

~~r~uses.

38. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiff is entitled to judgment holding Defendants

jointly and severally liable for aiding and abetting fraud, as set forth in Exhibit A, or in an

amount to be proven at trial, in an amount to be proven at trial.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff requests. that the Court enter

judgment:

(1) On the first claim for relief, fiolding Defendants jointly and severally
liable for damages, in the amount of $5,372,958.98 far the sale of Notes
and for $945,847.22 for the sale of Units as set forth in Exhibit A, or in an
amount to be proven at trial, arising from Defendants' sale of unregistered
securities;

(2) On the second claim for relief, holding Defendants jointly and severally
liable for fraud, in the amount of $5,372,958.98 for the sale of Notes and
for $945,847.22 for the sale of Units as set forth in Exhibit A, or in an
amount to be proven at trial;

(3) On the third claim for relief, holding Defendants jointly and severally
liable for aiding and abetting fraud, in the amount of $5,372,958.98 for the
sale of Notes and for $945,847.22 for the sale of Units as set forth in
Exhibit A, or in an amount to be proven at trial; and

(4) On all claims far relief, awarding Plaintiff prejudgment interest as
permitted by law, costs of suit, and such other and further relief as is just
and proper.

9
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Dated: December 3, 2p 19 PACHULSKI STANG ZIEHL &JONES LLP
Wilmington, Delaware

/s/ Colin R. Robinson
Richard M. Pachulski (CA Bar No. 90073)
Andrew W. Caine (CA Bar No. 110345)
Bradford J. Sandler (DE Bar No. 4142)
Colin R. Robinsgn (DE Bar No. 5524)
919 North Market Street, 17th Flaar
P.O. Box 8705
Wilmington, DE 19$99 (Courier 19801)
Telephone: 3 02-652-4100
Fax: 302-G52-4400
Email: r~achulski@Nsz~la~v.c~rr~

acaine@pszj law. com
bsandler@pszj law. com
crobinson@pszj law.com

Counsel to Plaintiff, as Liquidating Trustee of the
WoodbNidge Liquidation Trust
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EXHIBIT A

Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC,et al.

Schedule of Claims Contributed by Albert Klager and Atlantic Insurance &Financial Services Investors

Outstanding Investor Principal

Amounts Net/Allowed Claim Amounts

I nvestor Name Class 3 Class 5 Class 3 Ciass 5

BROKER: ALBERT KLAGER

ABRAHAM & JULIE ABRAMCZYK 61,000.00 - 58,386.70 -

PROV: TR GP-FBO WILLIAM M AMAROIRA - 100,000.00 - 85,777.85

WILLIAM M & PATRICIAAAMARO 50,000.00 - 45,825.00 -

WILLIAM M & PATRICIA A AMARO RT - 50,000.00 - 45,611.08

HERBERT R & JOELLEN BEADLE CO-TR 03/29/11 200,000.00 100,000.00 165,927.37 82,963.68

LYNDA BEAULIEU 32,000.00 - 30,272.00 -

BRUCE HBENSON 10Q,000.00 - 90,550.00 -

JEAN ANN BETTERLEY 100,000.00 - 82,655.08 -

PROV. TR GP-FBO JACQUELINE M BODELIN IRA 108,440.00 - 106,379.64 -

ROBERT E &JACQUELINE M BODELIN 50,000.00 - 49,041.67 -

LINDA GBURTON 166,120.57 50,000.00 142,285.89 43,168.39

RAYMOND J CAWLEY LT UAD 05/13/p9 100,OOQ.00 - 100,000.00 -

THEJUDITH A CAWIEY LT DTD 05/13/09 200,000.00 - 196,391.67 -

THOMAS H FRAZER RT DTD 08/20/09 120,000.00 - 112,980.00

HARRIS &MARION FREEMAN 100,000.00 - 97,833.33 -

REBECGA E GRITTON & DEBORAH M FERRIN 25,000.00 - 24,295.12 -

PROV. TR GP-FBO DONALD R GUIQRY IRA 25,343.00 - 24,769.08 -

PROV. TR GP-FBQ KAREN T GUIDRY IRA 25,343.00 - 24,769.08 -

ALAN HERRICK 50,000.00 - 45,408.33 -

CAROL ALAMBERT & ANDREA F DARWENT 100,000.00 - 97,239.60 -

GRACE LAMONTAGNE 300,000.00 100,000.00 267,085.63 89,028.54

WALTER B LINCOLN 25,000.00 - 23,682.33 -

PROV. TR GP-FBO CHARLES LINDSELL IRA 98,467.00 - 89,853.55 -

PROV, TR GP-FBO DAVID A LITTLEFIELD ROTH IRA 136,763.00 117,633.37

RICHARD MICHNA 50,000.pO 38,634.62

LORRAINE J MINETi~I RT DTD 06/02/97 100,000.00 - 82,655.08 -

RICHARD H MINE'i"P~ RT DTD 06/02/97 141,400.00 - 114,213.92 -

CHESTER J & IRENE C MINSKI 250,000.00 - 234,166.67 -

LINDA V &TIMOTHY NpRDMAN 100,OOp.00 - 96,683.33 -

PROV. TR GP-FBO MILDRED E OHLER IRA 53,177.00 - 49,717.48 -

10HN & ALICIA pHLSSON 75,000.00 - 73,169.48 -

WILLIAM JR & JOYCE L PEASE 25,000.00 - 20,194.47

LEILA S & JEFFREY A PEPPERS 25,000.00 - 24,262.20 -

KENNETH & EMMA BATTLER 100,000.00 - 96,683.33 -

HUGH T SHERIDAN 150,000.00 100,000.00 116,845.49 77,897.00

JOAN E SHERIDAN 225,000.00 100,000.00 174,477.99 77,545.78

JOHN SIEGLER JR 100,000.00 - 95,969.52 -

LARRY &BARBARA SMITH 80,000.00 - 78,988.90 -

SANFORD &LAURA STERN RT 11/05/92 400,000.00 - 355,916.67 -

IAURA STERN & LARA POSHER-LEMONS 50,000.00 - 49,941.67 -
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Woodbridge Group of Companies, ILC, et al.

Schedule of Claims Contributed by Albert Klager and Atlantic Insurance &Financial Services Investors

Investor Name

Outstanding Investor Principal

Amounts

Class 3 Class 5

54,081.00 -

60,000.00

25,000.00 -

150,000.00 -

100,000.00 -

200,000.00 250,000.00

100,000.00 -

100,000.00

100,000.00 -

150,000.00

Net/Allowed Claim Amounts

Class 3 Class 5

39,102.39 -

56,810.00 -

24,354.53 -

138,955.41 -

91,999.96 -

160,483.53 200,604.41

94,133.33 -

of,0~2.i0 -

95,702.75

122,075.00 -

PROV. TR GP-F60 RAYMOND M SYKES IRA

GARY J & MARY B TENPAS

THADDEUS A TERRY

DAVID TOWNLEY

JULIE VANDENBOS RT UA 06/19/08

MELANIE S VANDENBOS 2004 RT

DONALD H &KATHLEEN WEAVER

DONALD N & SANDRA L WftiGHT

DEBRA M ZAMPETI~1

CRAIG & JANE ZEZECK

TOTALS FOR ALBERT KLAGER

BROKER: ATLANTIC INSURANCE &FINANCIAL SERVICES

NANCY M CASE TR DTO 04/11/17

PROV. TR GP-FBQ THOMAS H FRAZER IRA

DAVID LITTLEFIELD

RICHARD & MELISSA MICHNA

PROV. TR GP-FBO LINDA V NORDMAN IRA

PROV. TR GP-F60 DONALD PENDAGAST IRA

BARBARA E & VINCENT J PUCCI

PROV. TR GP-FBO VIVIAN F SHAW IRA

THE VIVIAN F SHAW RT DTD 07/23/09

PROV. TR GP-FBO JOHN SIEGLER JR IRA

EDWARD J SMITH & DONNA P FA~CIANO

4,999,971.57 986,763.00 4,487,820.89 $20,230.10

80,000.00 -

27,077,00 -

- 60,000.00

70,801.99

26,005.76 -

- 50,972.54

50,000.00 - 50,000.00 -

139,000.00 - 134,413.00 -

146,015.00 100,000.00 108,992.29 74,644.58

25,000.00 - 23,210.80 -

224,050.00 - 219,979.76

100,000.00 - 93,683.33 -

65,500.00 - 63,612.30 -

100,000.00 - 94,438.86 -

TOTALS FOR ATLANTIC INSURANCE &FINANCIAL SERVICES 956,642.00 160,000.00 885,138.09 125,617.12

GRAND TOTALS 5,956,613.57 1,146,763.00 5,372,958.98 945,847.22
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